SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC00-2242

On Appeal from the Third District Court of Appeal

Lower Tribunal No. 3D99-1597

BARRY I. HECHTMAN and BRENDA HECHTMAN,

Petitioners/Appellants,

۷.

NATIONS TITLE INSURANCE OF NEW YORK, INC. and COMMONWEALTH LAND TITLE INSURANCE CO.,

Respondents/Appellees.

APPELLANTS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Hendrik G. Milne, Esq. Florida Bar No. 335886

Aballí, Milne, Kalil & Garrigó, P.A. Attorneys for Appellants 2250 SunTrust International Center One Southeast Third Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 Ph: (305) 373-6600 Fx: (305) 373-7929

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

On April 1, 1998, Barry and Brenda Hechtman, ("the Hechtmans") were two of several private mortgage lenders who filed a third-party claim against Nations Title Insurance of New York, Inc., ("Nations Title"), alleging that Nations Title was liable to them for the theft of their money, held in trust by Nations Title's insurance agent - the Law Offices of Jorge E. Hernandez, P.A.

(R-95, 98).¹

One of the Hechtmans' claims was based on Fla. Stat. § 627.792 (1997)

which provided as follows:

§ 627.792 Liability of title insurers for defalcation by title insurance agents.

A title insurer is liable for the defalcation, conversion, or misappropriation by a licensed title insurance agent of funds held in trust by the agent pursuant to s. 626.8473. If the agent is licensed by two or more title insurers, any liability shall be borne by the title insurer upon which a title insurance binder, commitment, policy, or title guarantee was issued prior to the illegal act. If no binder, commitment, policy or guarantee was issued, each title insurer represented by the agent at the time of the illegal act shares in the liability in the same proportion that the premium remitted to it by the agent during the 1-year period before the

¹

Jorge E. Hernandez has since resigned as a member of the Florida Bar as a result of these and many other millions of dollars of thefts, involving other parties and other title insurers.

illegal act bears to the total premium remitted to all title insurers by the agent during the same time period.

(R-95-99)

On July 14, 1998, Nations Title moved for partial summary judgment on the Hechtmans' statutory claim, arguing that since Hernandez, as an attorney licensed to practice by the Florida Bar was exempt from licensure by the Department of Insurance, he was not a *licensed* agent of Nations Title within the meaning of Fla. Stat. § 627.792 and, thus Nations Title had no responsibility under the statute for the trust fund thefts which he had committed. (R-179-182)

On October 2, 1998, the court agreed with Nations Title and entered an order that the Hechtmans had no claim against Nations Title under Fla. Stat. § 627.792. (R-263-267)

On May 20, 1999, the court allowed the Hechtmans to dismiss their remaining claims against Nations Title, and entered final judgment as to the Hechtmans only, thus rendering the ruling on the Hechtmans' claim under Fla. Stat. § 627.792 a final order for appellate purposes. (R-268-269).

On June 15, 1999 an appeal to the Third District Court of Appeal ensued. (R-241-250; 251-260). In the course of briefing, Commonwealth

Land Title Insurance Company ("Commonwealth") was given leave to intervene and file a brief in the appeal, as being directly affected by reason of an earlier partial summary judgment entered on identical grounds against other Plaintiffs in the action, which was not yet final and could not yet be appealed. (Undisputed)

On June 7, 2000, a majority of the Third District, composed of Judges

Green and Fletcher issued their opinion, which stated in part that:

Although we certainly understand and share the appellants' concerns about the wisdom of a legislative enactment which allows title insurers to escape statutory liability for the misdeeds of its duly appointed attorney agents, we nevertheless are constrained to give effect to the plain and ordinary meaning of the words utilized in section 627.792 ... that title insurers are only liable under its provisions for the defalcation, conversion or misappropriation of their title insurance agents who are duly licensed by the Department of Insurance. The fact that attorney agents have been expressly exempted from the licensure requirement (and hence regulation by the Department of Insurance) evinces a clear legislative intent that title insurers are not to be held liable for attorney agents' thefts under this statute.

App. A, p. 5-6.

The third member of the Court, Chief Judge Schwartz, issued a trenchant dissent in the following terms:

In my view, the court has violated the most basic principle of statutory construction: that the law should be interpreted in accordance with the intent of the legislature by vindicating an obvious purpose of the statute in question to remedy a particular harm. 48A Fla. Jur. 2d Statutes §§ 113, 153-55 (2000). I cannot agree that the statutory scheme, which was designed to protect bilked title insurance customers can properly be read to eliminate a large number, perhaps a majority, of those persons simply because they have dealt with company agents who, if anything, should be regarded as more trustworthy than others because they are members of the Florida Bar. It is all the more incongruous to suppose that the legislature meant to, and did, achieve this result by the entirely offhanded method of providing (a) that the statute applies only to a "licensed title insurance agent," § 627.792, Fla. Stat. (1997), and (b) in another section dealing with a guite different matter, that attorneys are exempt from obtaining a specific license to act as such agents. §626.8417 (4) (a), Fla. Stat. (1997).

As in Schneer v. Allstate Indemnity Co., ____ So. 2d ____ (Fla. 3d DCA Case no. 3D98-2541, opinion filed, May 17, 2000), the same majority professes itself regretfully bound by the letter of the law to reach what it seems to recognize is an unjust result. See <u>Schneer</u>, ____ So. 2d ____ n.1 (Schwartz, C.J., dissenting in part). In fact I believe it is a victim of a self-imposed hardship by unjustifiably inserting the words "only" and "as" into a statute in which they do not appear so that the words "licensed title insurance agent" turn out to mean "<u>only</u> one licensed <u>as</u> a title insurance agent.

I would instead effect the legislative intent by reading section 627.792 as written, that is, as non-exclusive, thus applying to all transactions which fall within its general ambit. Putting it somewhat differently, the word licensed should be construed to apply to everyone who is authorized by law to act as a "licensed title insurance agent" including the person who is "licensed" as a lawyer.

App. A, pp. 8-9.

On September 20, 2000, rehearing en banc was denied by a majority

of six to five of the eleven judges of the Third District. The six judge majority

was composed of Cope, Gersten, Green, Fletcher and Sorondo, JJ. The five

dissenters were Schwartz, C.J., and Jorgenson, Levy, Shevin and Ramirez,

JJ. App. B.

That same day, the panel who had issued the June 7, 2000 opinion,

nevertheless, certified to this Honorable Court that the decision herein passed

upon the following question of great public importance:

Whether § 627.792, Fla. Stat. (1997), which provides that an insurer is liable for the misfeasance of a "licensed title insurance agent" applies to a title insurance agent who is an attorney and is therefore exempt from licensing as a title insurance agent by the Department of Insurance under § 626.8417, Fla. Stat. (1997).

App. C, p. 2.

On November 6, 2000, this Court postponed its decision on jurisdiction and ordered briefing on the merits.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The vast majority of title insurance in Florida is written by attorneyagents. The statute under discussion deals with the liability of title insurers for the trust fund thefts of their agents. The first limb of the statute addresses the circumstance where the agent acts for a single principal. The second limb addresses the situation where the agent acts for several insurers, but one in particular has been identified in relation to the transaction in which the theft occurred. These provisions codify the common law of principal and agent. The third limb, however, which is involved in the facts of this case, deals with the allocation of liability where there are several possible principals and none has been identified to the transaction, but a theft has occurred. Where the common law would - without more - absolve all principals of responsibility, the legislature has provided for joint responsibility, shared in relation to the amount of income each insurer received from that agent in the year prior to the theft.

The issue is whether the statute makes title insurers liable for thefts committed by their attorney-agents, who account for the bulk of their profits in this state, or whether it applies only to the tiny minority of non-attorney agents, in which case it is basically a dead-letter. We suggest that the dissent posited by Chief Judge Schwartz below, holding that the statute applies to all agents, should be adopted as the rationale for a correct decision in this case.

We show further that the restrictive reading of the statute by the majority of the Third District is fundamentally flawed, since, while it purports to give effect to the "plain meaning" of the word "licensed" as used in the first sentence of the statute as meaning "licensed by the Department of Insurance," it nevertheless wholly ignores the fact that the same term is used in the second sentence - in "licensed by two or more title insurers" - where it must mean something quite different. As used there, the word means "authorized to act." If the word is given that consistent meaning, then all agents are covered by the statute.

Beyond the fact that the majority's construction does not harmonize all the words used, beyond the fact that the majority's construction frustrates the presumed intent of the legislature, and beyond the fact that they as good as confess that their own conclusion seems an unwise result for the legislature to have intended, there is the fact that the majority's construction results in a 14th Amendment, equal protection problem, since it makes a completely invidious distinction between the tiny minority of title insurance customers who are granted full recourse against title insurers for their agents' trust account defalcations, and the vast majority who are denied any such relief. If constitutionality is a touchstone of construction, then this is a result to be avoided and an alternative construction adopted.

ARGUMENT

1.

Attorneys act as title insurance agents in the vast majority of the real estate transactions concluded in Florida and are, therefore, presumably, the greatest source of profit to title insurance companies transacting business in Florida.

Real estate transactions account for many billions of dollars changing

hands in Florida every year. Title insurance is the norm. The attorneys who

handle those real estate transactions are very often title insurance agents.

This Court may take judicial notice of the fact that a single title insurer,

Attorneys Title, has 6,000 agents in Florida, all of whom are attorneys, who

between them account for roughly a quarter of market share in Florida.² The

²

A Court may take judicial notice of: "[f]acts that are not subject to dispute because they are capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot be questioned." Fla. Stat. § 90.202 (12)(2000). Insurer credit ratings available on the internet from leading national rating agencies fall into such a category. Duff & Phelps Credit Rating Co., for instance, identifies Attorneys Title Insurance Fund, Inc.'s 6,000 attorney-agents as accounting for 24% of market share in Florida in 1998. See App. "D."

other title insurers also have attorney agents - as is exemplified by this appeal. In litigation between the Department of Insurance and a title insurer regarding the constitutionality of the less stringent reporting requirements imposed on attorney-agents under the title insurance statutes, it was: "undisputed between the parties, and indeed ... it appears that the non-attorney title agents comprise a small minority of the title agents in the State of Florida." *See e.g. State of Florida, Dept. of Ins. v. Keys Title and Abstract Co. Inc.,* 741 So.2d 599, 603 (1st DCA 1999). (dissenting opinion). It is a fair conclusion, therefore, that attorney-agents present the greatest source of profit to title insurance companies transacting business in Florida.

2.

Fla. Stat. § 627.792 (1997) provides a remedy where the common law provided none, by allocating liability for losses, where the agent has not yet identified a particular principal, in the proportion that each has profited from the agent's activities over the year preceding the theft.

The Legislature has enacted a statute that addresses the vicarious liability of Florida's title insurers for their agents. This statute provided, until recently, as follows:

627.792 Liability of title insurers for defalcation by title insurance agents.

A title insurer is liable for the defalcation, conversion, or misappropriation by a licensed title insurance agent of funds held in trust by the agent pursuant to s. 626.8473. If the agent is licensed by two or more title insurers, any liability shall be borne by the title insurer upon which a title insurance binder, commitment, policy, or title guarantee was issued prior to the illegal act. If no binder, commitment, policy or guarantee was issued, each title insurer represented by the agent at the time of the illegal act shares in the liability in the same proportion that the premium remitted to it by the agent during the 1-year period before the illegal act bears to the total premium remitted to all title insurers by the agent during the same time period.

The issue on this appeal is, of course, whether this statute applies to attorney-agents. Before approaching that issue, however, it is well to step back and take in the statute's general purport. There are three sentences and three concepts here.

The first sentence expresses a concept that a principal should be liable for the theft of money entrusted to his agent by a third party. The receipt of money into trust is an ordinary incident of the work of a title insurance agent. That the principal should be liable for his agent's defalcation in such circumstances is a concept that is already covered by the common law of principal and agent.³ This provision, therefore, does little more than enshrine the existing law in statutory form.

The second sentence provides that where an agent is authorized to act for more than one principal and the particular principal has been identified to the transaction prior to the theft, that principal only is liable. As noted in the preceding paragraph, the common law would reach substantially the same result. Again the statute does little more than codify the general common law of principal and agent in the specific context of title insurer and title insurance agent.

It is the third sentence which makes a radical change to the common law. In a case where the agent steals money from a title insurance customer, but has not yet identified a particular principal, the common-law would probably say that - without more - none of the principals were liable. In this case, however, the Legislature has provided that *all* the principals are liable and they share in responsibility for the loss in direct proportion to their gain from that agent's activities over the year preceding the theft. In essence, joint liability for an agent's dishonesty is predicated on a "Risk vs. Reward" basis.

3

See, e.g. Restatement (Second) of Agency § 261 (1958), Agent's Position Enables Him to Deceive; *Industrial Ins. Co. of New Jersey v. First Nat. Bank of Miami*, 57 So.2d 23 (Fla. 1952).

It is this "third limb" of the statute, which applies to the facts of this case, which is our primary focus, here. 3.

Fla. Stat. § 627.792 (1997) cannot be fairly construed as exempting Florida's title insurers from vicarious liability for the theft losses caused by their greatest source of profit - their attorney-agents.

The issue on this appeal is whether, in enacting the "Risk v. Reward" provisions of Fla. Stat. § 627.792 (1997), the Legislature intended to enact a statute of general application, to ensure that title insurers be responsible for trust fund thefts committed by all their agents - with the risk commensurate with the reward - or whether the Legislature intended to limit the statute to a tiny minority of agents, leaving the industry free to reap the vast majority of their rewards, risk-free.

The majority opinion and the dissent frame the opposing arguments on this debate. The majority believe that the "plain meaning" of the words of the statute mandate a result which they confess is of questionable wisdom. The dissenter sees an evident mischief to be remedied and a logical, just result which can be achieved without doing violence to the words used. We believe that the rationale of Chief Judge Schwartz is infinitely to be preferred on the issue, and we adopt his reasoning and the law he cites as if set out *in extenso* here. However, we believe that there are further logical justifications for that position, as we explain below.

Both opinions focus on the word "licensed" as it is used in the first sentence, only. Neither opinion, however, discusses the fact that the word "licensed" also appears in the second sentence of the statute. Thus, the first sentence refers to "a licensed title insurance agent." But then the second sentence of the statute continues: "If the agent is licensed by two or more title insurers" Fla. Stat. § 627.792. In this second sentence the act of "licensing" is used to describe some action taken "by two or more insurers," not by the Department of Insurance. In fact the Department does not "license" agents to act, insurer by insurer: it issues a single license, after which the agent may act for as many insurers as wish to appoint him. Therefore, leaving aside the issue of the meaning of "licensed" in the first sentence for a moment, it is clear that in the second sentence, "licensed by two or more insurers" cannot mean "licensed by the Department of Insurance."

If this is so, then what does "licensed by two or more insurers" mean? Is there any sense in which title insurers can be said to "license" their agents? The answer to that question is "yes." The word "licensed," as used in ordinary English denotes the giving of permission to act. It is synonymous with

19

"appointed" or "authorized."⁴ If the word licensed is given this meaning, then the sentence makes sense. The expression "licensed by two or more title insurers" means "authorized to act for two or more title insurers."

A statute must be read and interpreted in its entirety and must be so construed that it is meaningful in *all* its parts.⁵ Given that the word "licensed" as used in the second sentence of the statute *cannot* mean "licensed by the Department of Insurance" and *must* mean "authorized to act" by the title insurers; given, further that it is highly unlikely that the legislature gave the word "licensed" different meanings in consecutive sentences; should the word not, then, be given the same meaning in both sentences? Such a construction would, of course, mean that title insurers are liable for all their agents, including attorney-agents, which - even the majority in the Third District would agree - would be a wiser and more just result.⁶

4

5

In ordinary English "licensed" is the equivalent of "appointed" in the context under discussion, since a person who has been "licensed" has been given "permission to act." Merriam Webster's Collegiate Dictionary, 10th ed.; Black's Law Dictionary, 829 (5th ed. 1979)

See Wilensky v. Fields, 267 So.2d 1, 4 (Fla. 1972). See also Engelwood Water Dist. v. Tate, 334 So.2d 626, 627 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976); State v. Gale Distributors Inc., 349 So.2d 150, 153 (Fla. 1977).

There can in fact, moreover, be little doubt that the legislature meant

Logic buttresses the conclusion that there was no intent on the part of the legislature to confine this statute to agents who had been issued licenses by the Department of Insurance. For instance, given the fact that, as we show above, the first two limbs of the statute do no more than codify the common law, is it logical to assume that the Legislature meant, when it referred to title insurers being liable for the thefts of their "licensed agents," that they meant to exclude vicarious liability for thefts committed by attorney-agents, when the insurers were already liable for thefts committed by such agents at common law?

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