### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

### CASE NO: SC00-2242

On Appeal from the Third District Court of Appeal

Lower Tribunal No: 3D-99-1597

#### BARRY I. HECHTMAN and BRENDA HECHTMAN,

Petitioners/Appellants,

v.

## NATIONS TITLE INSURANCE OF NEW YORK, INC. and COMMONWEALTH LAND TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondents/Appellees

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES

ROBERT A. COHEN Florida Bar No. 316271

COHEN | FOX P.A. Counsel for Resp. Commonwealth Miami Center, Suite 850 201 South Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33131 Telephone: (305) 702-3000 Facsimile: (305) 702-3030

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Petitioners' argument is grounded on various fatally flawed premises which are then woven together to create an appearance of dire consequences if the legal conclusions of both the trial court and the Third District are upheld. When these assumptions are viewed in a correct light, the entire fabric of the Petitioners' argument unravels. Among the erroneous assumptions are:

 Without statutory liability under §627.792, Fla.
Stat., there will be no avenue for recovery by mortgage investors whose funds are misappropriated by attorneys.

2. There is no distinction between attorneys and nonattorney title agents in either the capability for preventive oversight or the array of available remedies.

3. The legislature specifically intended to create a uniform source of statutory liability for all victims of misappropriation regardless of whether it is committed by an attorney or by a title agent licensed by the Department of Insurance.

Each of these assumptions fails, and the correct result is the one reached by the Third District in affirming the trial court's conclusion. The language of \$627.792, Fla. Stat., is clear both on its face and when read within the context of the entire statute. There are significant impairments in the ability

-5-

of either a title insurer or the Department of Insurance to supervise the escrow accounts of attorneys; indeed, oversight of attorneys is by The Florida Bar as an arm of this Court, and not by the Department of Insurance. Furthermore, the legislature specifically noted during its consideration of \$627.792 that it would not apply to attorneys.

Any mortgage lender can protect itself against misappropriation of funds in transit by requesting a closing protection letter before funding a transaction. In so doing, the title insurance carrier is made aware of the pending transaction and is placed on notice of the exposure which it has agreed to accept. Even in the absence of the title insurer's absolute liability under the statute, when a defalcation of escrow funds is committed by an attorney, there are available malpractice and other common law remedies against the lawyer as the active wrongdoer, and where the attorney cannot be reached for those remedies, The Florida Bar provides a client recovery fund which is not available to victims of defalcation by non-lawyers.

When viewed in the complete context of the issues, it is clear that the Third District and the trial court have correctly interpreted §627.792, Fla. Stat., and its statutory remedies are not invoked against lawyers who serve as title agents. This Court should decline to exercise jurisdiction over the issue because it does not truly present an issue of great public

-6-

importance. Alternatively, the decision of the Third District should be affirmed on its merits.

#### ARGUMENT

The Petitioners place great reliance on Judge Schwartz' dissenting opinion in the Third District, and adopt his viewpoint. That view, however, is contrary to the clear legislative intent, regardless of how sharply Judge Schwartz may disagree with it. There is a clear statutory expression of the legislative intent, and as the Third District majority correctly noted, that intent must be honored. Moreover, for reasons which were overlooked in the Third District, the legislature's approach is reasonable, and bears much more than a mere rational relationship to the legitimate governmental objective of the statute.

# I. THE REQUIREMENTS AND METHODS FOR ACQUIRING AUTHORIZATION TO WRITE TITLE INSURANCE ARE DIFFERENT FOR ATTORNEYS THAN FOR NON-ATTORNEY TITLE AGENTS.

Once a non-lawyer becomes licensed by the Department of Insurance, the procedural requirements and oversight by DOI are materially different than for attorney agents. Indeed, a review of the entire statutory scheme reveals that it was actually created for the very purpose of regulating non-lawyers.

-8-

A "title insurance agent" is defined as

. . . a person *appointed*<sup>5</sup> in writing by a title insurer to issue and countersign binders, commitments, policies of title insurance, or guarantees of title in its behalf.

\$626.841(1), Fla. Stat. (emphasis added). Before one can be appointed by a title insurer, however, a valid title insurance agent's license must be issued to that person by DOI. \$626.8417, Fla. Stat. The statute sets forth specific requirements for licensure by DOI, which requirements are materially different from the requirements of this Court for admission to The Florida Bar. The minimal requirements for licensing as a title insurance agent include (but by no means are limited to) the following:

1. The applicant for a license must be at least 18 years of age, §626.8414(1)(a), Fla. Stat., whereas candidates for admission to The Florida Bar must be somewhat older.<sup>6</sup>

2. The applicant must be a bona fide resident of Florida, \$626.8414(1)(b),Fla. Stat., whereas attorneys are not required to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The Petitioners devote much attention to the notion that the statute's use of the term "license" is synonymous with "appointed." (BP 12, 19-20). As is discussed in greater detail below, those terms are noticeably distinct.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>It is highly unlikely that anyone can qualify for admission to The Florida Bar at an age as young as 18, given the requirement that one attain the degree of bachelor of laws or juris doctor prior to being admitted to sit for the bar examination. Bar Admission Rules 2-11.1.

be Florida residents either at the time of admission to the bar or at any other time.

3. An application must be filed on DOI's printed forms, \$626.8417(2),Fla. Stat., and the department must determine whether the applicant is trustworthy and competent, \$626.8417(3), Fla. Stat., including any additional information requested pursuant to \$626.8423, Fla. Stat., and has completed a 40 hour classroom course (or had 12 months experience). \$626.8417(3)(a), Fla. Stat. Applicants for admission to practice law must pass a background investigation which is much more rigorous (see *Bar Admission Rules 3-10 et seq.*), under specific guidelines which disqualify anyone who has committed any "unlawful conduct"; "academic misconduct"; "misconduct in employment"; "financial irresponsibility"; "neglect of professional obligations"; or "any other conduct which reflects adversely upon the character or fitness of the applicant." *Bar Admission Rules, \$3-11*.

Thus, the requirements for admission to The Florida Bar are much more demanding than for becoming a licensed title insurance agent through DOI, and the title insurers should be entitled to reasonably believe that, generally speaking, attorney agents are more mature, experi-enced and ethically reliable than the minimum qualifications for licensure by DOI, and that their scrutiny is not as acutely needed for attorney agents as it is for DOI licensed title agents.

-10-

Once DOI issues a title insurance agent's <u>license</u> to an individual, the licensee is permitted to sell title insurance only when employed directly by a title insurance company or by a title insurance agency which is first licensed by DOI pursuant to \$626.8418, Fla. Stat., and is then appointed by a title insurance company pursuant to \$626.8419, Fla. Stat. Specific requirements for receipt and use of a title insurance agency license include:

1. An application on DOI forms which includes certain specified information and any other data required by the department.

2. Deposit with DOI securities with a market value of not less than \$35,000 or a surety bond in that amount, payable to any damaged title insurer, to secure the performance by the agency of its duties and responsibilities to each underwriter for which it is appointed. Such deposit or bond must remain in place and unimpaired for as long as the agency is doing business in the state and for one year thereafter. \$626.8418(2), Fla. Stat.

3. Once licensed, a title insurance agency must obtain a fidelity bond in an amount not less than \$50,000 for **each** title insurer appointing it, \$626.8419(1)(a), Fla. Stat., and must also carry errors and omissions insurance in an amount not less than \$250,000 per claim, with a limitation on the aggregate deductible against the claim. \$626.8418(1)(b), Fla. Stat.

-11-

Thus, it clearly appears that the legislature has not only created a statutory scheme which permits licensing of individuals with minimum qualifications far below those for admission to The Florida Bar, but also imposes on the Department of Insurance a responsibility for oversight, supervision and holding of security against defalcations by such individuals. (See also §§626.8427; 626.843; 626.8433; 626.8437; 626.844; 626.8443; 626.8447 re: additional supervision and oversight duties and authority of DOI). The statutory scheme, taken as a whole, does not simply impose on the title insurers strict liability for defalcations of its licensed agents; it also provides to title insurers the assistance of the department in the licensing, bonding, monitoring and reporting of suspensions, revocations or nonrenewals of appointments by other title insurers. The legislature has clearly stated that attorneys are exempted from all of these statutory demands (§626.8417(4), Fla. Stat.), and has not imposed on title insurers the strict liability which applies with regard to "licensed title insurance agents."

## II. THE LEGISLATURE'S CLEARLY EXPRESSED INTENT IS THAT ATTORNEY TITLE AGENTS NOT BE INCLUDED WITHIN THE STRICT LIABILITY PROVISIONS OF §627.792.

As is noted above, the plain language of §626.8417 unambiguously provides that:

(1) A person may not act as a title insurance agent as defined in s. 626.841

until a valid title insurance agent's license has been issued to that person by the department.

\* \* \*

(4) (a) Title insurers or attorneys duly admitted to practice law in this state and in good standing with The Florida Bar are exempt from the provisions of this <u>chapter</u> with regard to title insurance licensing and appointment requirements.

(emphasis added). This exemption is not arbitrary, but instead reflects the deeply rooted Constitutional mandate that this Court regulate and discipline attorneys. *Florida Constitution, Art. V, §15.* The constitutional mandate has also been statutorily codified as *§454.021, Fla. Stat.*<sup>7</sup>

<sup>7</sup>Florida Constitution, Art. V, §15 recites that

Section 15. Attorneys; admission and discipline.-The supreme court shall have exclusive jurisdiction to regulate the admission of persons to the practice of law and the discipline of persons admitted.

(Italicized emphasis added). The statutory confirmation of this concept provides as follows:

454.021 Attorneys; admission to practice law; Supreme Court to govern and regulate.-

(1) Admissions of attorneys and counselors to practice law in the state is hereby declared to be a judicial function.

(2) The Supreme Court of Florida, being the highest court of said state, is the proper court to govern and regulate admissions of attorneys and counselors to practice law in said state.

(Italicized emphasis added).

Furthermore, the plain language of the statutory exclusion is bolstered by its history. The framers of the statute recognized that licensed attorneys are governed by the judicial system, rather than the Department of Insurance, and that further regulation and oversight would therefore be inappropriate. The following discussion occurred during the debate of Senate Bill 520, which evolved into the subject statute:

Senator Scott:	Mr. Chairman?
Chair:	Yes, Senator Scott?
Senator Scott:	It my understanding that this [Senate Bill No. 520] does not apply to attorneys who issue title insurance.

Audience: [Fla. Land Title speaker]: No, sir, it doesn't, Senator. It specifically excludes attorneys, since they're regulated by the Supreme Court, we don't think they need any more regulation.

Senator Scott: Thank you.

Chair: Okay. Senator Thomas moves the Bill. Anybody want to vote against it? Show the Bill recorded favorably by all members of the committee present ....

(emphasis added). Certified Transcript of Record of Excerpts from the Florida Senate, Senate Commerce Committee, Senate Bill 520, April 17, 1985. (R132-33). How could the legislative intent be any clearer?

The First District has recently agreed that the legislative intent is clear and unambiguous. In *Department of Insurance v. Keys Title and Abstract Company, Inc.,* 741 So.2d 599 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1999), the court held that the legislature had a rational basis for limiting the statute's applicability to non-attorney title agents. *Keys Title* challenged the constitutionality of \$627.782(e), arguing that a reporting requirement contained in that section of the statute violated constitutional guarantees of equal protection by placing additional burdens upon non-lawyer title insurance agents. As the Hechtmans argue in the present case, *Keys Title* asserted that attorneys should also be subject to the statutory requirements. The First District disagreed, concluding that the legislature had a valid basis for exempting lawyers from the operation of the statute.

> [L]awyers who are members in good standing with The Florida Bar are exempt from the licensure requirements of Chapter 626. Because lawyers are not "licensees" of the Department of Insurance, they are not subject to the Department's reporting requirements.

> > \* \* \*

The authority to regulate attorneys is reserved for the Florida Supreme Court under Article 5, Section 15 of the Florida Constitution. In contrast, the class of nonlawyer insurance agents consists entirely of persons who are selling title insurance, and

-15-

all of them are subject to discipline by the Department of Insurance.

741 So.2d at 601. The court also observed that the department cannot sanction attorneys for conduct that would be inconsistent with Chapter 626.

The Petitioners assert that despite the clear language of the statute, the legislature really intended to hold title insurers strictly liable for defalcations by all title insurance agents regardless of whether or not they are licensed by the department. That argument necessarily presumes, however, that the use of the word "licensed" is mere surplusage. Statutory language cannot, however, be assumed to be superfluous.<sup>8</sup> The statute must be construed so as to give meaning to all its words and phrases. *Terrinoni v. Westward Ho!*, 418 So. 1143, 1146 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1982). Indeed,

> A maxim that carries as much weight as the presumption of an enactment's constitutionality cautions us that operative language may not be regarded as surplusage. . . A court is not a super-legislature that second guesses what a legislature really meant to say; the legislated language speaks for itself.

City of Pompano Beach v. Capalbo, 455 So. 2d 468, 469 (Fla.  $4^{th}$  DCA 1984). In the present case, the legislature specifically

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Statutory language is also not a mere "inconsequential choice of words" as suggested by Judge Schwartz in his dissent. (*Hechtman v. Nations Title at 12*). Indeed, as is noted above at page 14, the legislature specifically discussed and considered the fact that this legislation would not apply to attorneys.

chose the phrase "licensed title insurance agent" within \$627.792, and that language speaks for itself. The imposition of vicarious liability for defalcations by licensed title insurance agents does not extend to attorney agents who are not licensed by the Department of Insurance, and neither the Petitioners nor any court should treat that language as mere surplusage or otherwise second guess what the legislature really meant to say.<sup>9</sup>

It is undisputed that at the time of the defalcation, Hernandez was a member in good standing of The Florida Bar. (R127). Therefore, the trial court and the Third District correctly interpreted and applied §627.792, Fla. Stat., when concluding that Commonwealth and other title insurers cannot be held accountable under that statutory provision for the attorney's defalcation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>The Department of Insurance apparently agrees that this is the legislature's plain language. In *Keys Title*, *supra.*, the Department of Insurance argued that in adopting premium rates for title insurance as required by §627.782, Fla. Stat., the department has given due consideration to the risk of liability for defalcation by licensed title insurance agents only (see §627.782(2)(d), Fla. Stat.), and has not included in the premium rates any recognition of the exposure for defalcation of attorney agents where no title insurer has been identified in a particular transaction.

# III. THE STATUTORY SCHEME OF §627.792 IS NOT THE ONLY AVENUE FOR RECOVERY BY VICTIMS OF DEFALCATION.

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